IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,

v.

GREGG M. AMORE, in his official capacity as Secretary of State for the State of Rhode Island.

Defendant.

Civil No. 1:25-cv-00639

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff United States of America brings this action against Gregg M. Amore, in his official capacity as Secretary of State for the State of Rhode Island, and alleges:

INTRODUCTION

- 1. Title III of the Civil Rights Act of 1960 ("CRA") imposes a "sweeping" obligation on election officials, *Kennedy v. Lynd*, 306 F.2d 222, 226 (5th Cir. 1962), to "retain and preserve... *all* records and papers which come into [their] possession relating to any application, registration, payment of poll tax, or other act requisite to voting in such election..." 52 U.S.C. § 20701 (emphasis added).
- 2. Title III likewise grants the Attorney General of the United States the sweeping power to obtain these records: "Any record or paper required by section 301 to be retained and preserved shall, upon demand in writing by the Attorney General or [her] representative directed

to the person having custody, possession, or control of such record or paper, be made available for inspection, reproduction, and copying at the principal office of such custodian by the Attorney General or [her] representative...." 52 U.S.C. § 20703. The written demand "shall contain a statement of the basis and the purpose therefor." *Id*.

- 3. If the custodian to whom the written demand refuses to comply, the CRA requires "a special statutory proceeding in which the courts play a limited, albeit vital, role" in assisting the Attorney General's investigative powers. *Lynd*, 306 F.2d at 225. The Attorney General or her representative may request a Federal court to issue an order directing the officer of election to produce the demanded records, akin to "a traditional order to show cause, or to produce in aid of an order of an administrative agency." *Id*.
- 4. In this "summary" proceeding, *In re Gordon*, 218 F. Supp. 826, 826-27 (S.D. Miss. 1963), the Attorney General need only show that she made a "written demand" for records covered by Section 301 of the CRA and that "the person against whom an order for production is sought... has failed or refused to make such papers 'available for inspection, reproduction, and copying," *Lynd*, 306 F.2d at 226 (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1974b, transferred to 52 U.S.C. § 20703). The court does not adjudicate "the factual foundation for, or the sufficiency of, the Attorney General's 'statement of the basis and the purpose' contained in the written demand" or "the scope of the order to produce." *Id*.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 2201(a); and 52 U.S.C. § 20705.
- 6. Venue for this action is proper in the United States District Court for the District of Rhode Island because all actions giving rise to the suit occurred within this district, the Defendant

is a resident of the State of Rhode Island, and the records that are demanded are located in this district. 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1), (c)(2); see also 28 U.S.C. § 120 (the state of Rhode Island constitutes a single federal district court).

PARTIES

- 7. Plaintiff is the United States of America. The United States, through the Attorney General, has authority to enforce various federal election statutes, including the CRA, *see* 52 U.S.C. § 20703; the National Voter Registration Act ("NVRA"), 52 U.S.C. § 20510(a); and Title III of the Help America Vote Act ("HAVA"), 52 U.S.C. § 21111.
- 8. Defendant Gregg M. Amore ("Secretary Amore") is the Secretary of State of Rhode Island and is sued in his official capacity as an "officer of election" as defined by Section 306 of the CRA. *See* 52 U.S.C. § 20706. Secretary Amore is the chief state election official responsible for coordinating Rhode Island's responsibilities under the NVRA. *See* 52 U.S.C. § 20509; R.I. Gen. Laws § 17-6-1.3 ("The secretary of state is designated as the chief state election official under section 10 of the National Voter Registration Act of 1993...."). As the chief election official, Secretary Amore is required to retain and preserve election records, including the Federal election records identified in Section 301 of the CRA. *See* 52 U.S.C. § 20701. Secretary Amore is sued in his official capacity only.

BACKGROUND

- 9. This proceeding arises from the Attorney General's investigation into Rhode Island's compliance with Federal election laws, particularly the NVRA and HAVA.
- 10. Both the NVRA and HAVA require States to maintain accurate voter registration lists. The NVRA requires states to preserve certain records and papers that fall within the scope of Section 301 of Title III of the CRA.

- 11. The NVRA requires each state to "designate a State officer or employee as the chief State election official to be responsible for coordination of State responsibilities" under the NVRA. 52 U.S.C. § 20509. Secretary Amore is the chief election official of the State of Rhode Island.
- 12. The NVRA requires States to "conduct a general program that makes a reasonable effort to remove the names of ineligible voters from the official lists of eligible voters by reason of" the death of the registrant, or "a change in the residence of the registrant, in accordance with subsections (b), (c), and (d)[.]" 52 U.S.C. § 20507(a)(4)(A)-(B).
- 13. The NVRA also requires States to maintain, with exceptions not relevant here, "all records concerning the implementation of programs and activities conducted for the purpose of ensuring the accuracy and currency of official lists of eligible voters..." 52 U.S.C. § 20507(i)(1).
- 14. HAVA requires all States to maintain and administer "a single, uniform, official, centralized, interactive computerized statewide voter registration list" that contains "the name and registration information of every legally registered voter in the State and assigns a unique identifier to each legally registered voter in the State…" 52 U.S.C. § 21083(a)(1)(A).
- 15. HAVA further establishes "[m]inimum standard[s] for accuracy of State voter registration records," 52 U.S.C. § 21083(a)(4), and prohibits States from processing voter-registration applications without obtaining and verifying certain identifying information from the applicants. 52 U.S.C. § 21083(a)(5)(A).

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

16. The United States Election Assistance Commission ("EAC") – "an independent, bipartisan commission whose mission is to help election officials improve the administration of elections and help Americans participate in the election process" – conducts a biennial Election

Administration and Voting Survey ("EAVS"). EAC, *About the EAC*, http://eac.gov/about (last visited Nov. 14, 2025).

Case 1:25-cv-00639

- 17. For the EAC's most recent report, "Election Administration and Voting Survey 2024 Comprehensive Report: A Report from the U.S. Election Assistance Commission to the 119th Congress" ("2024 EAVS Report"), States "reported data on their efforts to keep voter registration lists current and accurate, known as list maintenance." EAC, 2024 EAVS Report at iv.¹
- 18. Based on a review of the 2024 EAVS Report, the Attorney General, acting through her representative, the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights, sent a letter to Secretary Amore on September 8, 2025, seeking information regarding Rhode Island's compliance with federal election law. Ex. 1 to Decl. of Maureen Riordan ("Riordan Decl."), Ltr. from the Asst. Att'y Gen. to Sec'y Gregg M. Amore (Sept. 8, 2025) ("September 8 Letter").
- 19. The September 8 Letter requested pursuant to Section 8(i) of the NVRA that Rhode Island provide a current electronic copy of its computerized statewide voter registration list ("SVRL"), required under Section 303 of HAVA. *Id*.
- 20. The September 8 Letter also contained a written demand made pursuant to Section 301 of the CRA, 52 U.S.C. § 20703, demanding "an electronic copy of Rhode Island's complete and current VRL" and advised that "[t]he purpose of the request is to ascertain Rhode Island's compliance with the list maintenance requirements of the NVRA and HAVA." *See* Ex. 1 to Riordan Decl. at 2 (describing the scope of records and papers demanded). The letter directed that the SVRL should contain all fields, which includes the registrant's full name, date of birth,

5

¹ https://www.eac.gov/sites/default/files/2025-07/2024_EAVS_Report_508.pdf (last visited Nov. 24, 2025).

residential address, his or her state driver's license number, or the last four digits of the registrant's social security number as required by HAVA to register individuals for federal elections. *Id.* at 1, 3 & n.3.

Case 1:25-cv-00639

- 21. The September 8 Letter explained that "HAVA specifies that the 'last 4 digits of a social security number... shall not be considered to be a social security number for purposes of section 7 of the Privacy Act of 1974." *Id.* at 2 (citing 5 U.S.C. § 552a note; 52 U.S.C. § 21083(c)). In addition, it explained that any prohibition of disclosure of a motor vehicle record contained in the Driver's License Protection Act, codified at 18 U.S.C. § 2721(b)(1), is exempted when the disclosure is for use by a government agency in carrying out the government agency's function to accomplish its enforcement authority as the Attorney General is now doing. *See id.*
- 22. Finally, the September 8 Letter also made clear that the requested records will be maintained consistent with Privacy Act protections as explained on the Department's website.² *See id.*
- 23. The full list of routine uses for this collection of information can be found in the System of Records Notice ("SORN") titled, JUSTICE/CRT 001, "Central Civil Rights Division Index File and Associated Records," 68 Fed. Reg. 47610-01, 611 (Aug. 11, 2003); 70 Fed. Reg. 43904-01 (July 29, 2005); and 82 Fed. Reg. 24147-01 (May 25, 2017). The statutes cited for routine use in the SORN include the NVRA, HAVA, and the CRA. The records in the SORN are kept under the authority of 44 U.S.C. § 3101 and in the ordinary course of fulfilling the responsibility assigned to the Civil Rights Division under the provisions of 28 C.F.R. §§ 0.50,

6

² https://civilrights.justice.gov/privacy-policy#:~:text=Our%20Statutes-,Privacy%20Act%20Statement,the%20scope%20of%20our%20jurisdiction.

- 0.51. This information is included in the Privacy Act link that was provided to Secretary Amore in the September 8 Letter.
- 24. The September 8 Letter asked Secretary Amore to produce the requested information and records by encrypted email or via the secure file-sharing system, Justice Enterprise File Sharing (JEFS). Ex. 1 to Riordan Decl. at 3.
- 25. In response, on September 16, 2025, Secretary Amore sent a letter refusing to provide the requested SVRL, stating Rhode Island "objects to providing" information that the Secretary Amore asserted constitutes "personally identifiable information (PII) such as 'state driver's license number or the last four digits of the registrant's social security number." Ex. 2 to Riordan Decl., Ltr. from Sec'y Gregg M. Amore to the Asst. Att'y Gen. (Sept. 16, 2025) ("September 16 Letter") (quoting September 8 Letter).
- 26. Through the September 16 Letter, Secretary Amore refused the Attorney General's written demand made through her representative, the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights.

COUNT ONE VIOLATION OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1960, 52 U.S.C. § 20703

- 27. On September 8, 2025, the Attorney General, acting through her representative the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights, sent a written demand to Secretary Amore for the production of specific election records, as authorized by Section 303 of the CRA, 52 U.S.C. § 20703.
- 28. The written demand "contain[ed] a statement of the basis and the purpose therefor." 52 U.S.C. § 20703.
- 29. Secretary Amore refused to provide the records requested as described in his September 16 Letter.

Wherefore, the United States respectfully requests this Court:

- A. Declare that Secretary Amore's refusal to provide the Federal election records upon a demand by the Attorney General, acting through her representative the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights, violates Section 303 of the Civil Rights Act, 52 U.S.C. § 20703;
- B. Order Secretary Amore to provide to the Attorney General's representative, the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights, an electronic copy of Rhode Island's statewide Voter Registration List within five days, to include each registrant's name, date of birth, address, and as required by HAVA, the last four digits of the registrant's social security number, driver's license/state identification number, or the unique HAVA identifier, *see* 52 U.S.C. § 21083; and
- C. Award such additional relief as the interests of justice may require.

Dated: December 2, 2025.

Respectfully submitted:

HARMEET K. DHILLON Assistant Attorney General Civil Rights Division

/s/ James Thomas Tucker
MAUREEN RIORDAN
Acting Chief, Voting Section
TIMOTHY F. MELLETT
JAMES THOMAS TUCKER
Attorneys, Voting Section
Civil Rights Division
U.S. Department of Justice
4 Constitution Square
150 M Street NE, Room 8.923
Washington, D.C. 20530
Telephone: (202) 307-2767
Email: james.t.tucker@usdoj.gov

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on December 2, 2025, a true and correct copy of the foregoing document was served via the Court's ECF system to all counsel of record.

> /s/ James Thomas Tucker James Thomas Tucker

$_{ m JS~44~(Rev.~03/24)}$ Case 1:25-cv-00639 Document 100 Fig. 212/02/25 Page 1 of 1 PageID #: 11

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS				DEFENDANTS					
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA				GREGG M. AMORE, in his official capacity as Secretary of State for the State of Rhode Island					
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff				County of Residence of First Listed Defendant Providence County					
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)				(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.					
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, A	Address, and Telephone Number	-)		Attorneys (If Known)					
II. BASIS OF JURISD	ICTION (Place an "X" in C	One Box Only)		FIZENSHIP OF PI (For Diversity Cases Only)	RINCIPA		Place an "X" in nd One Box for I		
x 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	3 Federal Question (U.S. Government N	lot a Party)		<u>P</u>	FF DEF] 1	Incorporated <i>or</i> Pri of Business In T	ncipal Place	PTF	DEF
2 U.S. Government Defendant	4 Diversity (Indicate Citizenshi)	p of Parties in Item III)	Citize	n of Another State	2 2	Incorporated <i>and</i> P of Business In A		5	5
				en or Subject of a eign Country] 3			<u> </u>	6
IV. NATURE OF SUIT					_	e for: Nature of S			
CONTRACT		RTS	$\overline{}$	RFEITURE/PENALTY		NKRUPTCY	=	STATUT	
110 Insurance 120 Marine 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability 367 Health Care/		5 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 0 Other	— ···		375 False Claims Act 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) 400 State Reapportionment		
150 Recovery of Overpayment & Enforcement of Judgment	320 Assault, Libel & Slander	Pharmaceutical Personal Injury				PROPERTY RIGHTS 820 Copyrights		410 Antitrust 430 Banks and Banking	
151 Medicare Act	330 Federal Employers'	Product Liability			830 Pat		450 Comm	ierce	ing.
152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans	Liability 340 Marine	368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product				tent - Abbreviated	460 Deport 470 Racket		nced and
(Excludes Veterans)	345 Marine Product	Liability				w Drug Application ademark		t Organiza	
153 Recovery of Overpayment	Liability	PERSONAL PROPERT		LABOR	1=	fend Trade Secrets	480 Consu		
of Veteran's Benefits 160 Stockholders' Suits	350 Motor Vehicle 355 Motor Vehicle	370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending	\mathbb{H}^{71}	0 Fair Labor Standards Act	Ac	t of 2016	485 Teleph	SC 1681 oi ione Consu	,
190 Other Contract	Product Liability	380 Other Personal	72	0 Labor/Management	SOCIA	AL SECURITY	_ ^	ction Act	
195 Contract Product Liability	360 Other Personal	Property Damage	_ E	Relations		A (1395ff)	490 Cable/		
196 Franchise	Injury 362 Personal Injury -	385 Property Damage Product Liability		0 Railway Labor Act 1 Family and Medical		ack Lung (923) WC/DIWW (405(g))	850 Securi Excha		nodities/
	Medical Malpractice	Froduct Liability	$\mathbb{H}^{\prime 3}$	Leave Act		ID Title XVI	890 Other		Actions
REAL PROPERTY	CIVIL RIGHTS	PRISONER PETITIONS		0 Other Labor Litigation	865 RS	I (405(g))	891 Agricu		
210 Land Condemnation	440 Other Civil Rights	Habeas Corpus:	□79	1 Employee Retirement	EEDED	ALL TAN CHIEF	893 Enviro		
220 Foreclosure 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment	× 441 Voting 442 Employment	463 Alien Detainee 510 Motions to Vacate		Income Security Act		xes (U.S. Plaintiff	895 Freedo Act	m of Infor	mation
240 Torts to Land	443 Housing/	Sentence				Defendant)	896 Arbitra	ation	
245 Tort Product Liability	Accommodations	530 General				S—Third Party	899 Admin		
290 All Other Real Property	445 Amer. w/Disabilities -	535 Death Penalty	146	IMMIGRATION	-	5 USC 7609		eview or A	
	Employment 446 Amer. w/Disabilities -	Other: 540 Mandamus & Other		2 Naturalization Application 5 Other Immigration			950 Consti	y Decision tutionality	
	Other	550 Civil Rights		Actions			State S	tatutes	
	448 Education	555 Prison Condition							
		560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of							
		Confinement							
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •								
	te Court	Remanded fromAppellate Court	Reop	(specify	r District	6 Multidistri Litigation Transfer		Multidis Litigatio Direct F	on -
VI. CAUSE OF ACTION	52 U.S.C. §§ 20701-20	706	filing (I	o not cite jurisdictional stat	tutes unless d	liversity):			
vi. chest of heric	Brief description of ca		es to cor	npel production of Federa	l election red	cords			
VII. REQUESTED IN				EMAND \$		CHECK YES only i	if demanded in	n compla	int:
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT: CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.				Ψ		URY DEMAND:	Yes	× No	
VIII. RELATED CASI IF ANY	E(S) (See instructions):	JUDGE			DOCK	KET NUMBER			
DATE		SIGNATURE OF ATTO	ORNEV	DE RECORD					
Dec 2, 2025		/s/ James Thomas Tu		A RECORD					
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY		, o, cameo momas rui	0.101						
	AOLINIT	A DDI MINICI TED		HIDGE		14.0 ===	VCE		
RECEIPT # AN	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP		JUDGE		MAG. JUD	JGE .		

Attachment to Civil Cover Sheet (Attorney Names, Addresses, and Phone Numbers)

I.(c)

Counsel for Plaintiff United States of America: MAUREEN S. RIORDAN TIMOTHY F. MELLETT JAMES THOMAS TUCKER Attorneys, Voting Section Civil Rights Division

4 Constitution Square

150 M Street NE, Room 8.141

Washington, D.C. 20002

Telephone: (202) 307-2767 Facsimile: (202) 307-3961

E-mail addresses:

Maureen.Riordan2@usdoj.gov Timothy.F.Mellett@usdoj.gov James.T.Tucker@usdoj.gov

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of Rhode Island							
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA)))						
Plaintiff(s)							
V.	Civil Action No. 25-639						
GREGG M. AMORE, in his official capacity as Secretary of State for the State of Rhode Island))))						
Defendant(s)							
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION							
To: (Defendant's name and address) Hon. Gregg M. Amore State of Rhode Island, De Office of the Secretary of 8 82 Smith Street, Room 21 Providence, Rhode Island	State 8						
A lawsuit has been filed against you.							
are the United States or a United States agency, or an office	e						
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be You also must file your answer or motion with the court.	entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.						
	CLERK OF COURT						
Date:							
	Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk						

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

was re	This summons for (no ceived by me on (date)	me of individual and title, if any									
	☐ I personally serve	d the summons on the indiv	_								
			on (date)	_ ; or							
		s at the individual's resider	nce or usual place of abode with (name)								
	on (date)	, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there, (date), and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or									
		ions on (name of individual)	on behalf of (name of organization)	, who is							
		accept service of process of	on (1-4-)	; or							
	☐ I returned the sum	mons unexecuted because		; or							
	☐ Other (specify):										
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	for services, for a total of \$	0.00							
	I declare under penal	ty of perjury that this infor	mation is true.								
Date:		_									
			Server's signature								
		_	Printed name and title								
		_	Server's address								

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc: